## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC01-896 L.T. NO.: 4D00-2011

MARTIN ACQUADRO, M.D., and ROSE ACQUADRO,

Petitioners,

v.

JANET BERGERON,

Respondents.

\_\_\_\_\_/

### PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Donna M. Greenspan Florida Bar No. 059110 EDWARDS & ANGELL, LLP Attorneys for Petitioners, Martin Acquadro, M.D., and Rose Acquadro One North Clematis Street, Suite 400 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone: (561) 833-7700 Facsimile: (561) 655-8719

i	
PMB_176722_1/DGREENSPAN	

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 1, 2001, this Court accepted jurisdiction to review the decision of the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Fourth District, entitled <u>Acquadro v. Bergeron</u>, 778 So. 2d 1034 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2001). Petitioners, Martin Acquadro, M.D. ("Dr. Acquadro") and Rose Acquadro, seek to dismiss the underlying action against them brought by respondent, Janet Bergeron ("Bergeron"). The district court's decision expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of other district courts of appeal.

This matter was before the Fourth District as a non-final appeal. Consequently, the record on appeal consists of those parts of the record from the lower tribunal that were included in the appendices of the appellants and appellee. This brief will use the same appendix references as in the district court briefs. For the Court's convenience, an appendix is being filed herewith consisting of the documents included in the district court appendix, as well as the district court opinion.

- 1 -

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Petitioners, Dr. Martin Acquadro and his mother, Rose Acquadro (collectively, "the Acquadros"), residents of Massachusetts, seek review of a fourth district decision that affirmed an order denying their motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction. The fourth district decision sets forth these material facts:

[sic] complaint alleges, Plaintiffs' among other things, that the appellants, while in Massachusetts, engaged in telephone conversations with persons in Florida, in which one of the appellants defamed plaintiff and both made statements which were the basis of claims for false arrest jurisdiction was alleged under and malicious prosecution. Personal <u>section 48.193(1)(b)</u>, Florida Statutes (1999), which subjects a non-resident who commits a tortious act within Florida to the jurisdiction of the Florida courts.

Defendants filed affidavits in support of their motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction, in which they denied making the statements which were the basis of the tort claims, but did not deny their involvement in the telephone conversations with persons in Florida.

<u>Acquadro v. Bergeron</u> 778 So.2d 1034, 1035 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2001) (emphasis supplied).

Jurisdiction under section 48.193(1)(b), Florida Statutes, requires the within this state." commission of a "tortious act Thus, the Acquadros' affidavits -- in which they "denied making the statements which were the basis of the tort claims" -- contested the essential jurisdictional facts alleged by plaintiff.

Bergeron did not file any affidavit to refute the Acquadros' affidavits contesting jurisdiction.<sup>1</sup> Instead of an affidavit, Bergeron offered live testimony at a specially-set hearing on defendants' motion to dismiss. (App. 7). Bergeron herself noticed the hearing, which was <u>not</u> ordered by the court. (App. 6).

Both Bergeron and her sister, Jacqueline Branz ("Branz"), testified at the hearing. As set forth below -- even with this live testimony -- Bergeron did not refute the proof in the Acquadros' affidavits contesting jurisdiction.

In order to put plaintiff's testimony in context, it is necessary to go back to the genesis of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The fourth district's reference in its decision to "conflicting affidavits" might lead to the mistaken impression that Bergeron actually filed an affidavit in this case. No such affidavit was ever filed.

underlying case. On September 17, 1997, Bergeron was arrested for battery on Edward Acquadro ("Eddie"), the uncle of Dr. Acquadro and brother-in-law of Rose Acquadro. (App. 4, ¶¶3-4; App. 5, ¶2). At the time of Bergeron's arrest, Eddie was a frail 72-year-old, and Bergeron was 38. (App. 4, ¶4). For several years prior to Bergeron's arrest, Eddie had allowed Bergeron to reside in his house in Boca Raton, Florida. (App. 4, ¶6).

Bergeron was taken into custody at a garage owned by Bonnie Towing & Recovery, Inc. ("Bonnie

Towing"), co-defendant below, after police were called to the scene by Bonnie Towing employees. (App.

4, Ex. A). As conceded by Bergeron's counsel, it is undisputed that the police had probable cause to

arrest Bergeron. (App. 7, p.78, line 20 - p.79, line 2). The probable cause affidavit describes the incident as follows:

I was dispatched to Bonnie Towing . . . in reference to a report of an elderly male being abused.

On arrival, I met with complainants/witnesses . . . All are employees of Bonnie Towing. . . [The witnesses] stated the following . . . Eddie's car . . . had been impounded by Bonnie Towing. When Bergeron was informed of how much the tow bill was, \$100.00, she started to scream and yell . . . at Eddie that it was all his fault for the car being towed. At one point, Bergeron forcibly picked Eddie up . . [and] carried Eddie out of the office through the front door. . . Eddie was hit on the head with the door.

After Eddie had been carried outside, . . . Bergeron pick[ed] up a car battery [and] hit Eddie in the arm with the battery as she tried to get him out of her way.

... Eddie ... is 72 years old ... weighs 102 pounds, and is very frail looking. (Bergeron is 5'0 and weighs 160 pounds)... While talking to Eddie he stated the following ... He does not know why Bergeron treats him badly, that she also hits him at home. ... Eddie stated that Bergeron did hurt his ribs when she picked him up....

After talking to the witnesses, victim Acquadro, and defendant Bergeron, it was determined through my investigation that there was sufficient probable cause to arrest Janet Bergeron for battery on a person 65 years of age or older.

(App. 4, Ex. A) (emphasis supplied).

During the evening of September 17, 1997, Dr. Acquadro and his parents, Rose Acquadro and the since-deceased Andrew Acquadro, learned of Bergeron's arrest. (App. 4, ¶8; App. 5, ¶3). Andrew and Rose Acquadro arranged for Eddie to fly to Massachusetts to obtain appropriate medical care and

treatment. (App. 4, ¶8; App. 5, ¶3). Eddie arrived in Massachusetts suffering from, among other things, pneumonia and a left proximal humerus fracture. (App. 4, ¶8; App. 5, ¶3). After recuperating sufficiently, Eddie began living in an assisted-living center. (App. 4, ¶8; App. 5, ¶3). Eddie eventually died on August 27, 1998. (App. 4, ¶8; App. 5, ¶3).

Bergeron returned to Eddie's house after being released from jail despite an Order of No Contact and an Order Directing New Residence that had been entered against her. (App. 4, Ex. D.). A civil action ("Acquadro I") was commenced against her, which was eventually dismissed after Eddie regained possession of his house. (App. 4, ¶¶11-12).

In the amended complaint in this action, Bergeron alleged that Dr. Acquadro and Rose Acquadro had lied to the police and had offered money and other benefits to Bonnie Towing representatives in order to procure Bergeron's arrest. (App. 1, ¶¶16-17). Bergeron also alleged that while she was in jail, Dr. Acquadro and Rose Acquadro had conspired with defendant James Bonnie to convert Bergeron's property, and had converted Bergeron's property. (App. 1, ¶¶61-62). Bergeron alleged that petitioners' attorneys had provided the criminal court with false information to procure the aforementioned Order of No Contact and Order Directing New Residence. (App. 1, ¶20). Bergeron further alleged that Rose Acquadro had defamed Bergeron by stating--in a telephone conversation between Bergeron's sister, Jacqueline Branz ("Branz"), James Bonnie, and Rose Acquadro--that Bergeron "has AIDS." (App. 1, ¶¶52-53).

In the affidavits supporting their motion to dismiss, Dr. Acquadro and Rose Acquadro directly contested each and every one of Bergeron's allegations. (App. 4; App. 5). Petitioners stated that they had not spoken to and were not even acquainted with Bonnie Towing representatives prior to Bergeron's arrest. (App. 4, ¶15; App. 5, ¶4). Petitioners stated that they had not offered money or other benefits to procure Bergeron's arrest. (App. 4, ¶15; App. 5, ¶4). Petitioners stated that they had not lied to the police in order to procure Bergeron's arrest and had in fact known nothing of the arrest until after it had occurred. (App. 4, ¶15-16; App. 5, ¶4-5). Dr. Acquadro stated that his attorneys did not provide the

criminal court with false information to procure the Order of No Contact and Order Directing New Residence, and pointed out that these orders had already been entered by the time that legal counsel was retained to represent Eddie's interests in <u>Acquadro I</u>. (App. 4, ¶17).

Petitioners denied that they had converted or had conspired to convert any of Bergeron's property. (App. 4, ¶18; App. 5, ¶6). Moreover, Rose Acquadro denied that she had made defamatory statements about Bergeron. (App. 5, ¶6). Finally, petitioners denied having sufficient minimum contacts with Florida such that they would reasonably anticipate being haled into court in this state. (App. 4, ¶20; App. 5, ¶8).

At the hearing on defendants' motion to dismiss, neither Bergeron nor Branz refuted petitioners' sworn statements that they had not offered benefits to, had not spoken with, and were not even acquainted with Bonnie Towing representatives prior to Bergeron's arrest. (App. 7, pp. 37-66). Neither Bergeron nor Branz refuted petitioners' sworn statements that they had not lied to the police in order to procure Bergeron's arrest and had in fact known nothing of the arrest until after it had occurred. (App. 7, pp. 37-66). Neither Bergeron nor Branz refuted petitioners' sworn statements that they had not converted and had not converted and petitioners' sproperty. (App. 7, pp. 37-66).

In fact, the following excerpt is the <u>only</u> time that Dr. Acquadro was even mentioned by <u>either</u> Bergeron or Branz:

Q: Did [James Bonnie] say that this was durable [sic] power of attorney from Martin Acquadro?

BRANZ: I was told that it was durable power of attorney. I don't recall if it was from Martin Acquadro or not specifically. The Acquadros. [James Bonnie] just saying [sic], they gave me power of attorney. And he kept saying durable power of attorney.

(App. 7, p.43). Furthermore, although Bergeron and Branz testified that Rose Acquadro had stated on a telephone call that Bergeron "has AIDS," (App. 7, pp. 45, 64), neither Bergeron nor Branz testified as to any other contacts that either Rose Acquadro or Dr. Acquadro had with the State of Florida. (App. 7, pp. 37-66).

The fourth district acknowledged that the Acquadros' affidavits had denied the tortious statements allegedly made in telephone conversations with persons in Florida. Acquadro v.

<u>Bergeron</u>, 778 So. 2d 1034, 1035 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2001) ("Defendants filed affidavits . . . in which they denied making the statements which were the basis of the tort claims . . ."). However, the district court disagreed that "[Bergeron's] failure to refute [the Acquadros'] affidavits denying the tortious conduct required the trial court to grant their motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction." <u>Id.</u> The district court held:

Because the defendants' affidavits did not deny that the telephone communication, which was the basis of personal jurisdiction, had occurred, the trial court correctly denied the motion to dismiss.

<u>Id.</u>

Thus, the court held that it was not sufficient to deny the tortious statements allegedly made by telephone to Florida; in order to contest jurisdiction, the Acquadros were required to deny the fact of the telephone communication itself. By holding that the telephone communication was the "basis of personal jurisdiction," the court essentially held that a telephone call is not merely a conduit through which a tortious act may be directed toward Florida, but is <u>in and of itself sufficient</u> for personal jurisdiction over a nonresident. This holding expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of other district courts of appeal.

This appeal now follows.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Acquadros contested long-arm jurisdiction by filing affidavits in which they disputed that they had made tortious statements in connection with Bergeron. The fourth district held that contesting jurisdiction required the Acquadros to dispute that telephone communications with persons in Florida were made, and <u>not</u> just the alleged tortious content of those communications. This holding expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of other district courts of appeal, which hold that a telephone communication into Florida, even with tortious content, is not sufficient for jurisdiction under section 48.193(1)(b).

The district court erred by failing to find that the Acquadros' affidavits had shifted the burden to Bergeron to show the basis on which jurisdiction was obtained, i.e., the alleged tortious statements. The court further erred by failing to find that Bergeron had not met this burden, and by failing to find that there were not sufficient minimum contacts between the state and the defendants to satisfy the Fourteenth Amendment's due process requirements.

## **ARGUMENT**

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The issues presented are questions of law, i.e., (1) whether the Acquadros were required to dispute that telephone communications were made with persons in Florida and not just the tortious statements allegedly made in those telephone communications; and (2) whether the Acquadros' affidavits had shifted the burden to Bergeron to show the basis on which jurisdiction was obtained. "A trial court's ruling on a motion to dismiss based on a question of law is subject to de novo review." <u>Execu-Tech Business Systems</u>, <u>Inc. v. New Oji Paper Co. Ltd.</u>, 752 So. 2d 582, 584 (Fla. 200). Accordingly, the appropriate standard of review in this case is de novo.

## POINT I

#### THE FOURTH DISTRICT OPINION EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL BY HOLDING THAT, IN ORDER CONTEST JURISDCTION, THE ACQUADROS WERE то REQUIRED TO DISPUTE THAT TELEPHONE COMMUNICATIONS WERE MADE WITH IN FLORIDA AND NOT JUST THE TORTIOUS STATEMENTS PERSONS ALLEGEDLY MADE IN THOSE TELEPHONE COMMUNICATIONS

In <u>Venetian Salami Co. v. Parthenais</u>, 554 So. 2d 499, 502 (Fla. 1989), this Court explained the two-step inquiry for determining long-arm jurisdiction over a nonresident defendant. "A court first must determine whether the complaint alleges sufficient jurisdictional facts to bring the action within the ambit of our long-arm statute." <u>Doe v. Thompson</u>, 620 So. 2d 1004, 1005 (Fla. 1993) (citing <u>Venetian Salami</u>, 554 So. 2d at 502). "A court then must determine whether sufficient minimum contacts exist between our forum state and the defendant to satisfy the Fourteenth Amendment's due process requirements--in short, whether a nonresident defendant 'should reasonably anticipate being haled into court' in Florida." <u>Doe</u>, 620 So. 2d at 1005 (citing <u>Venetian Salami</u>, 554 So. 2d at 500).

"[A] defendant wishing to contest the allegations of the complaint concerning jurisdiction or to raise a contention of insufficient minimum contacts must file an affidavit in support of his or her position." <u>Doe</u>, 620 So. 2d at 1005. "The burden is then placed upon the plaintiff to show by counter-affidavit the basis upon which jurisdiction is obtained." <u>Id.</u> "If relevant facts set forth in the respective affidavits are in direct conflict, then the trial judge should hold a limited evidentiary hearing on the issue of jurisdiction." Id.

Here, the Acquadros filed affidavits "in which they denied making the statements which were the basis of the tort claims." <u>Acquadro</u>, 778 So. 2d at 1035. Jurisdiction in this case was grounded on section 48.193(1)(b), which requires the commission of a "tortious act within this state." § 48.193(1)(b), Fla. Stat. Thus, by denying the tortious statements — which allegedly took place in conversations with persons in Florida -- the Acquadros "contest[ed] the allegations of the complaint concerning jurisdiction." <u>See Doe</u>, 620 So. 2d at 1005.

This should have been sufficient to shift the burden back to plaintiff "to show by counter-affidavit the basis upon which jurisdiction is obtained." <u>See id.</u> However, the district court found that the Acquadros were required to dispute that telephone communications were made with persons in Florida, and <u>not</u> just the tortious statements within those telephone communications. <u>Acquadro</u>, 778 So. 2d at 1035. The court found that the telephone communication itself — rather than the alleged tortious statements within the telephone communication." <u>Id.</u>

Accordingly, the district court in <u>Acquadro</u> essentially held that a telephone call, *even without tortious content*, can still be the basis of personal jurisdiction under section 48.193(1)(b). This cannot be reconciled with the clear language of section 48.193(1)(b) itself, which requires a "tortious act" for long-arm jurisdiction.

There has been a split in the districts as to whether even tortious telephone call into Florida is sufficient for а personal jurisdiction under section 48.193(1)(b). In Thompson v. Doe, 596 So.2d 1178 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), approved, 620 So. 2d 1993), the fifth district reiterated its prior 1004 (Fla. holding that "false statements made via telephone from another state to a person in Florida [do] not constitute the commission of a tortious act in Florida." Id. at 1180 (citing McLean Financial Corporation v. Winslow Loudermilk Corporation, 509 So. DCA 1987)) (emphasis 2d 1373, 1374 (Fla. 5th supplied).

- 9 -

Similarly, in <u>Horowitz v. Laske</u>, 751 So. 2d 82 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999), the fifth district held that "[b]rief phone calls and letters initiated in Michigan" responding to the state of Florida with regard to the sale of unregistered securities were "not committed in the state of Florida as required by the plain language of section 48.193 (1)(b). <u>Id.</u> at 85-86. "Rather, if committed at all, these acts were committed in Michigan." Id. See also Texas Guaranteed Student Loan Corp. v. Ward, at 86. 696 So. 2d 930, 932 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997) (debt collection letters and telephone calls into Florida do not constitute tortious conduct within the state); Intercontinental Corp. v. Orlando Regional Medical Center, Inc., 586 So. 2d 1191, 1195 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) ("mere act of communicating with the promisee in Florida . . . does not constitute commission of a tortious act in this state").

On the other hand, the fourth district has held that "[m]aking a defamatory statement to a listener in Florida, even via telephone, constitutes the commission of a tort in Florida within the meaning of Florida's long-arm statute." <u>Achievers Unlimited, Inc. v. Nutri Herb, Inc.</u>, 710 So. 2d 716 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1998); <u>see also Carida v. Holy Cross Hosp., Inc.</u>, 424 So. 2d 849 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982) (jurisdiction found based on defamation by virtue of phone calls into the State), <u>overruled on other grounds</u>, <u>Doe v. Thompson</u>, 620 So. 2d 1004 (Fla. 1993); <u>Silver v. Levinson</u>, 648 So. 2d 240 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1994) (slanderous statements during telephone call placed to Florida number subjected nonresident caller to jurisdiction).

As set forth above, the district court in this case found that the telephone communication itself — rather than the alleged tortious statements within the telephone communication -- was the "basis of personal jurisdiction" that the Acquadros would have had to contest in their affidavits in order to show that they were not subject to jurisdiction in this state. <u>Acquadro</u>, 778 So. 2d at 1035. Thus, the instant decision conflicts with both the line of cases above finding that a *tortious* phone call is sufficient for jurisdiction under section

48.193(1)(b) <u>and</u> the line of cases finding that even a tortious phone call into Florida is not tortious conduct "within this state."

#### <u>POINT II</u>

## THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND THAT THE BURDEN HAD SHIFTED TO BERGERON TO SHOW THE BASIS ON WHICH JURISDICTION WAS OBTAINED AND IN FAILING TO FIND THAT BERGERON HAD NOT MET THIS BURDEN; THE COURT FURTHER ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND THAT THE SECOND STEP OF THE "VENETIAN SALAMI" INQUIRY WAS NOT SATISFIED

In its decision, the district court disagreed that "[Bergeron's] failure to refute [the Acquadros'] affidavits denying the tortious conduct required the trial court to grant their motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction." <u>Acquadro</u>, 778 So. 2d 1034, 1035 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2001). The court explained its disagreement by reiterating the principle that "[w]here the affidavits are in conflict, the trial court holds a 'limited evidentiary hearing in order to determine the jurisdiction issue." <u>Id.</u> However, the hearing at issue was <u>not</u> the limited evidentiary hearing ordered by the court to resolve a conflict in the parties' affidavits. Rather, the hearing was noticed by Bergeron who presented live testimony <u>instead of</u> filing any affidavits.

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