IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-896

MARTIN ACQUADRO and ROSE ACQUADRO,

Petitioners,

vs.

JANET BERGERON,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, JANET BERGERON

Robert Rivas The Rivas Law Firm 311 S. Calhoun St., Suite 206 Tallahassee, FL 32301 (850) 412-0306 COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Petitioners have never identified any case that Acquadro is in conflict with. Therefore, the instant petition for review should be dismissed.

There is no merit to the Petitioners' contention that the fourth district's decision is in conflict because it holds that a phone call, standing alone, absent a tort, is adequate to support personal jurisdiction in Florida. The fourth district did not so hold, but, if this Court is concerned that others might discover the Petitioners' strained interpretation of the fourth district's decision and be misled by it, this Court should affirm the fourth district but disclaim the potential erroneous interpretation.

Regardless of the fourth district's decision, the order of the trial court should be affirmed because the Acquadros failed to cross the first threshold of the Venetian Salami test. Their affidavits failed to refute the allegations of the Complaint that they both committed the torts of false arrest, false imprisonment, malicious prosecution, and civil theft, and that Rose Acquadro committed slander.

The Acquadros' affidavits do not squarely meet and deny the allegations of the Complaint, and as to many of the

-22-

allegations of the Complaint the affidavits make no reference. The affidavits mostly state legal conclusions instead of refuting the allegations of the Complaint. There is no support in the law for the Acquadros' notion that their submission of legal conclusions will suffice to establish that they did not commit the torts specifically alleged.

To the extent that the affidavits actually might have been interpreted to deny that the Acquadros committed the specifically alleged torts, there is ample evidence in the record to refute the affidavits.

Finally, with respect to the count of the Complaint alleging defamation by Rose Acquadro, the evidence proves she intentionally, maliciously communicated a false and defamatory statement into Florida, to victimize a Florida resident. The controlling case law entitles her victim to hale her into court in Florida, and requires her to defend this suit.

ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review of a trial court's decision whether to grant a motion to dismiss an action for lack of personal jurisdiction is whether the trial court's decision is supported by competent substantial evidence. *E.g., Fasco Controls Corp. v. Goble*, 688 So. 2d 1029, 1031 (Fla. 5th DCA

-23-

1997).

The Petitioners contend that the standard of review is de novo. In support of this contention, they cite *Execu-Tech Business Systems*, *Inc. v. New Oji Paper Co.*, *Ltd.*, 752 So. 2d 582 (Fla. 2000). But that case states only that a trial court's ruling "on a question of law is subject to de novo review." *Id.* at 584 (emphasis supplied). Having said that, the Petitioners then proceed to argue only about certain legal questions, based on the Petitioners' highly debatable interpretation of the fourth district's decision.

If this court agrees that the fourth district made an incorrect statement of law, then the Petitioners are correct that the statement of law, seen in isolation, is reviewed de novo and commented upon as such. However, if this Court finds the fourth district's reasoning incorrect, or concludes that its choice of words might mislead some readers, this Court will ultimately have to decide, based on a review of the record, whether the right result was reached. Unlike *Execu-Tech Business Systems, Inc.*, the issues in this case are fact intensive. The appropriate standard of review is that this Court must decide whether the trial court's order denying the Petitioners' motion to dismiss is supported by competent substantial evidence, and, if so, whether the fourth district

-24-

correctly affirmed.

I. REVIEW SHOULD BE DISMISSED OR DISCHARGED FOR LACK OF A CONFLICT OF DECISIONS.

In order to establish conflict jurisdiction, Art. V. § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const., a party must show that a district court decision "expressly and directly conflicts" with a decision of another district court or of this Court. The Petitioners in this case have never identified the case or cases that *Acquadro* is in conflict with. The petition for review of this case should be dismissed for the reasons set forth more fully in the Respondent's Jurisdictional Brief.

The parties in this proceeding do not even know what issue this Court has granted review based upon. This Court only addresses the issues that formed the basis for the grant of conflict jurisdiction. See Florida Power & Light Co. v. City of Dania, 761 So. 2d 1089, 1094 n.11 (Fla. 2000). In this case, however, the entire case is thrown up for reargument because of the Petitioners' failure to identify a conflict issue.

In their Jurisdictional Brief and in the Petitioners' Brief On the Merits, the Petitioners keep arguing about the best-known, controlling cases on personal jurisdiction, Venetian Salami Co. v. Parthenais, 554 So. 2d 499 (Fla. 1989)

-25-

and Washington Capital Corp. v. Milandco, Ltd., Inc., 659 So. 2d 838 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), as if the fourth district has announced its disagreement with them. But Acquadro is not in conflict with Venetian Salami Co. or Washington Capital Corp. The fourth district has again cited and followed those cases in August, five months after rendering Acquadro decision. See Shoppers Online, Inc. v. E-Pawn, Inc., 792 So. 2d 615 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001). The fourth district is not in a state of apostasy when it comes to this state's personal jurisdiction jurisprudence.

Therefore, review should be dismissed, or the grant of review discharged.

II. THERE IS NO MERIT TO THE PETITIONERS' CONTENTION THAT THE FOURTH DISTRICT HELD THAT A PHONE CALL INTO FLORIDA FORMS THE BASIS FOR PERSONAL JURISDICTION EVEN IN THE ABSENCE OF ANY TORT.

This subsection of this brief is dedicated to the Petitioners' argument that the fourth district's decision:

held that it was not sufficient to deny the tortious statements allegedly made by telephone to Florida; in order to contest jurisdiction, the Acquadros were required to deny the fact of the telephone communication itself. By holding that the telephone communication was the "basis of personal jurisdiction," the court essentially held that a telephone call is not merely a conduit through which a tortious act may be directed to Florida, but is *in and of itself sufficient* for personal jurisdiction over a nonresident. Petitioners' Brief at 9 (emphasis in original). The fourth district's decision said no such thing. The fourth district held that the phone calls unquestionably took place, and they were the "basis of personal jurisdiction" to the extent they were tortious; but the trial court's "limited evidentiary hearing" was not the time or place to decide the ultimate issue of liability.

Rose Acquadro's affidavit, for instance, did not even deny that she got on the phone to James Bonnie, Jacquie Branz and Janet Bergeron and said Ms. Bergeron "has AIDS," as alleged and proven below. She merely said she "did not make defamatory statements about Bergeron." For all a finder of fact can discern from this affidavit, she is merely making a legal argument that her statement was not actionable for some defensive reason *besides* a contention that she did not make the statement she is alleged to have made. To cite another example, she never denied that she was personally present in Palm Beach County committing the alleged civil theft. She merely denies that she committed theft, which, again, is a legal argument as to her liability.

If this Court chooses to concur with the Petitioners that the fourth district's decision might be interpreted to mean a phone call into Florida, in the absence of a tort, can be

-27-

sufficient for personal jurisdiction, then this Court should merely write an opinion affirming the fourth district, but warning that this Court disapproves the fourth district's decision to the extent it might be interpreted in the strained manner the Petitioners have chosen to interpret it.

In any event, the fourth district's decision should be affirmed.

III. THERE IS NO MERIT TO THE PETITIONERS' CONTENTION THAT THERE IS A "SPLIT IN THE DISTRICTS" AS TO WHETHER A TORTIOUS TELEPHONE CALL INTO FLORIDA FORMS AN ADEQUATE BASIS FOR PERSONAL JURISDICTION.

The Petitioners contend that there is a "split in the districts as to whether even a *tortious* phone call into Florida is sufficient for personal jurisdiction." Petitioners' Brief at 13 (emphasis in original). To the contrary, there is no such "split." On this point, the Petitioners get two distinct lines of cases mixed up.

In Silver v. Levinson, 648 So. 2d 240 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), the fourth district held that "plaintiff's complaint containing a cause of action for an intentional tort of libel aimed directly at Florida and resulting in injuries to a Florida resident subjected defendant to the reach of our long arm statute." Id. at 242. See also Achievers Unlimited, Inc. v. Nutri Herb, Inc., 710 So. 2d 716, 718-719 (Fla. 4th DCA

-28-

1998) (same); Carida v. Holy Cross Hosp., Inc., 424 So. 2d 849, 849 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982) (same). Each of these cases also holds that constitutional due process requirements are necessarily always met when an out-of-state defendant intentionally projects a libel into Florida.

The Petitioners attempt to establish conflict by confusing this rule of law with a distinct line of cases in which a tort was committed entirely outside of this state, but some resulting injury was felt by a party in this state. For instance, in *Thompson v. Doe*, 596 So. 2d 1178 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), *aff'd*, *Doe v. Thompson*, 620 So. 2d 1004 (Fla. 1993), the defendant was in Texas when he committed negligence. There was no question about whether he committed a tortious act in Florida; he did not. *Thompson*, 596 So. 2d at 1181 (referring to Thompson's "foreign tortious act causing injury in Florida"). The fifth district said: "This court has held that the occurrence of injury in Florida standing alone is insufficient to establish jurisdiction under section 48.193(1)(b) and that part of a defendant's tortious conduct must occur in this state." *Thompson*, 596 So. 2d at 1180.

This case is not in conflict with *Thompson*. In this case, the fourth district's decision was based on the rule of law that "the tort of libel is not completed until the

-29-

statements are published," *Silver*, 648 So. 2d at 242, and so the "final element of the tort" is not satisfied until the defamatory statements are published. *Id*. "Until that time, no tort had been 'committed'," *Silver*, 648 So. 2d at 242. If the statement is made in Florida "via telephone," then the tort was committed "in Florida within the meaning of Florida's long-arm statute." *Achievers Unlimited*, *Inc.*, 710 So. 2d at 718.

The Petitioners have not cited any case in conflict with this rule of law. The Thompson issue underlies the other cases cited in the Petitioners' Jurisdictional Brief as being in conflict with this case. They are all about activities committed outside of Florida, causing injury in Florida. See Horowitz v. Laske, 751 So. 2d 82, 86 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999) ("The 'tortious acts' alleged here ... were not committed in the state of Florida as required by the plain language of the statute," section 48.193(1)(b)) (emphasis in original); Texas Guaranteed Student Loan Corp. v. Ward, 696 So. 2d 930, 932 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997) ("The complaint ... fails to allege that any of the tortious conduct occurred in Florida. The occurrence of injury alone in Florida does not satisfy section 48.193(1)(b) ... To establish personal jurisdiction, part of the defendant's tortious conduct must occur in Florida.");

-30-

Intercontinental Corp. v. Orlando Regional Medical Center, Inc., 586 So. 2d 1191, 1195 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) ("Without deciding whether appellee has adequately alleged the tort of tortious interference at all, we are convinced the mere act of communicating with the *promisee* in Florida, in an effort to convince the promisee not to insist on contractual rights, does not constitute the commission of a tortious act in this state") (emphasis in original); *McLean Financial Corp.* v. *Winslow Loudermilk Corp.*, 509 So. 2d 1373, 1374 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987) (making a false statement over the phone does not constitute commission of a tort in Florida).

The fifth district's decision in *Thompson* certified conflict with *Carida*, saying, "We recognize that some Florida courts have held that the commission of a tort for purposes of establishing long-arm jurisdiction under section 48.193(1)(b) does not require physical entry into or tortious conduct in this state, but only requires that injury or damages occur within Florida," and, with a "see also" introduction, identified *Carida* as one of those cases. *Thompson*, 596 So. 2d at 1181.

Thompson thus misstated the holding in Carida and wrongly certified Carida as being in conflict. Carida was a case in which libel was committed via telephone calls into Florida,

-31-

and so the libel was committed in Florida. Since then, many cases have cited *Carida*, correctly recognizing that it stands for the proposition that a libel transmitted into Florida on the telephone constitutes the commission of a tort in Florida. *E.g.*, *Acquadro*, 778 So. 2d at 1035; *Silver*, 648 So. 2d at 242. In *Doe*, this Court "disapprove[d]" *Carida*, but only to the extent *Carida* was "in conflict with this opinion," which is not at all.

In sum, there is no conflict between the fourth district's decision in this case and any other case. Therefore, review should be dismissed or discharged.

> IV. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOUND PERSONAL JURISDICTION OVER THE DEFENDANTS BECAUSE THE DEFENDANTS' AFFIDAVITS FAILED TO REFUTE THE JURISDICTIONAL FACTS ALLEGED IN THE COMPLAINT.

The Acquadros' argument that the fourth district was required to reverse the trial court depends entirely upon their contention that they filed legally sufficient affidavits contesting the essential jurisdictional facts alleged in the Complaint. This argument is without merit, as a matter of fact. The Acquadros' affidavits were insufficient to shift the burden to Ms. Bergeron because the unrefuted allegations of the Complaint are sufficient to satisfy both due process considerations and long arm jurisdiction.

-32-

The analysis of personal jurisdiction in Florida starts with Venetian Salami Co. and Washington Capital Corp.

If the allegations of the complaint are sufficient to establish Florida's long-arm jurisdiction, the burden shifts to the defendant to contest jurisdiction by a *legally sufficient* affidavit or other similar sworn proof contesting the essential jurisdictional facts. ... The burden then returns to the plaintiff who must, by affidavit or other sworn statement, refute the proof in the defendant's affidavit. ... The failure of a plaintiff to refute the allegations of the defendant's affidavit requires that a motion to dismiss be granted, provided that the defendant's affidavit properly contested the basis for long-arm jurisdiction by legally sufficient facts.

Washington Capital Corp., 659 So. 2d at 841 (emphasis supplied). In this case, the Acquadros' affidavits did not properly contest the basis for long-arm jurisdiction by legally sufficient facts, or show a failure of minimum contacts. Therefore, the Acquadros failed to shift the burden back to Ms. Bergeron to prove either that they committed a tort in Palm Beach County or that they possess sufficient minimum contacts to satisfy constitutional due process requirements.

The Acquadro affidavits are a thin gruel of conclusory statements, avoiding more of the factual allegations of the Complaint than they address. The first paragraph of each of the Acquadro affidavits contains an identical statement that

-33-

each affiant has "personal knowledge as to all of the facts contained herein," App. 4, ¶ 1 (Martin), App. 4, ¶ 1 (Rose), but it is obvious in one paragraph after another that that statement is not true as a matter of law.

The issues in this case are fact-intensive. Therefore, this brief's Statement of the Facts, rebutting the Statement of the Facts of the Petitioners' Brief, serves to support this section of the argument by pointing out, line after line, how the affidavits are insufficient to fully deny any of the torts alleged in the Complaint.

The affidavits themselves support the exercise of personal jurisdiction. Martin Acquadro demonstrates that he brought a lawsuit against Ms. Bergeron in the court below over matters related to this action. His attorney, in argument on this motion below, said this case "is really just an improper continuation of an action that was already voluntarily dismissed by both parties sometime ago," App. 7, p. 3, referring to the lawsuit Martin brought against Ms. Bergeron.

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